
CITY OF HANOVER 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

APRIL 22, 2024 
OFFICIAL MINUTES 

Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance 
Stan Kolasa called the April 22, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting to order at 7:00 pm.  Members present 
were Stan Kolasa, Jim Schendel, Gretchen Barrett, and John Ganfield.  Chad Olson was absent.  Also 
present City Planner Cindy Nash, Council Liaison Mike Amery and Administrative Assistant Amy Biren. 
Many guests were present 

Approval of Agenda 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the agenda, seconded by Barrett.  
Motion carried unanimously. 

Approval of Minutes from the March 25, 2024, Regular Meeting 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the March 25, 2024, minutes, seconded by Barrett. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

Citizen’s Forum 
None 

Review of the Commercial/Industrial Demand Analysis for the City of Hanover by Maxfield 
Research and Consulting 

Nash explained that a short review of the Maxfield Study would take place and highly recommended the 
Board members reading through the entire report.  She said that components of the report will be brought 
back to the various boards throughout the year.  A part of the report related to the Schirmer property 
currently zoned Commercial but with an application to be re-guided to residential.  Factors that supported 
residential development over commercial development included: 

• Limited population density in the immediate trade area surrounding the property and traffic volume
is not high enough to attract retail uses.

• The size of the property is too large to attract the type of retail stores requiring five (5) acres or less.
• Adjacent land uses and environmental features are suited to housing instead of retail.

Nash stated that the study investigates how much retail and commercial space is needed for Hanover and 
in the future.  The report identifies areas and recommends focusing development along CSAH 19, the 
downtown area, and across the Crow River along 109th Avenue North where it is already zoned as such. 

Barrett said she attended the Economic Development Authority (EDA) meeting last week when the 
Maxfield Study was presented and said it was very interesting.  She reiterated that the Planning Commission 
pushed for a review to be completed by a third party to be able to make recommendations on properties in 
Hanover.  She agreed that the 42 acres encompassed by the Schirmer property is a lot for small retail spaces. 

Ganfield also attended the EDA meeting.  He felt that the EDA members were in favor of re-guiding the 
Schirmer property to residential. 

Barrett said that the study will be beneficial in determining how to use the available land zoned 
commercially.  She indicated she is halfway through the report and suggested that the Board members 
review the last pages of the report where recommendations are made for incentives and programs to grow 
retail and commercial businesses in Hanover. 



Public Hearing 

 Variance to Impervious Surface Coverage and Site Plan at 29953 109th Avenue North 
(Hilltop) 

Kolasa closed the Planning Commission meeting and opened the Public Hearing at 7:10 pm. 

Nash began by explaining that the Board has reviewed the variance and site plan for the Hilltop in the past.  
The variance is for the impervious surface coverage.  The Board previously recommended approval of the 
variance and site plan with Council granting the variance and approving the site plan.  The one difference 
in the site plan is the applicant has had discussions with Hennepin County and requirements regarding the 
entrance and turn lanes have changed.  The applicant now needs to ensure that the proper permits are 
acquired through Hennepin County for access and right-of-way.  The variance which was granted has 
expired after a year’s timeframe as the applicant was not able to complete processes in time to start 
construction. 

Megan Rogers, Larkin Hoffman, and spokesperson for the applicant, explained that the plans are nearly 
identical.  Financing was difficult to obtain and caused the variance timeline to expire.  They are requesting 
approval as none of the uses have changed. 

Barrett asked about the private drive for the apartment resident.  Rogers explained that it still exists and 
they had to give up a currently existing second access to the establishment per Hennepin County.  There 
will only be one access to the establishment. 

No one from the audience asked to speak during the hearing. 

Kolasa closed the Public Hearing and re-opened the Planning Commission at 7:17 pm. 

MOTION by Barrett to recommend approval of the variance to the impervious surface coverage subject to 
the conditions and recommendations in the staff memo, seconded by Schendel. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
MOTION by Barrett to recommended approval of the site plan for the Hilltop based on the 
recommendations in the memo, seconded by Schendel. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Public Hearing 
  
 Comprehensive Plan Amendment, Rezoning, and Concept Plan at 999 Kalenda Lane NE 
 
Kolasa closed the Planning Commission meeting and opened the Public Hearing at 7:20 pm. 
 
Nash reminded the Board that the application is to re-guide a property, the Schirmer property, from 
commercial to residential along with a concept plan should the re-guidance be recommended.  The 
application was brought before the Board last year and was tabled with the recommendation for a third-
party study be completed related to commercial and industrial properties and uses in Hanover.  The 
application was re-advertised for a public hearing due to the length of time between submission and 
recommendation by the Board.  The EDA did recommend that the property be changed to residential.  The 
Planning Commission needs to make a recommendation. 
 
Art Plante, JPB Land/JP Brooks, guided the Board through a presentation and explained the changes made 
based on feedback from the previous meeting.  The number of lots have been reduced to 180 including the 
St. Michael portion of the development with 116 lots in Hanover.  Instead of multiple sized lots, the 
company decided to go with two having widths of 55 feet and 65 feet.  The side yard setback was increased 
from five (5) feet to 7.5 feet.  The applicant met with Wright County who expressed concern over having 



two access points to Beebe Lake Road/CSAH 34.  Instead of the two access points, there will only be one 
from the development.  To show future access points, the applicant ghost platted the adjacent west property 
which showed an access point aligning with the existing Kayla Lane to the south.  There would also be an 
access point from the St. Michael portion of the development to the north.  Plante explained the company’s 
background and development in Hanover and nearby cities.  He pointed out that the neighboring land is 
residential and residential development is better suited to the topography and environmental features of the 
property.  Plante said that housing drives business and retail growth in a city.  Stormwater concerns 
expressed at the previous meeting would be addressed in future applications for the development.  He asked 
the Board to recommend approval. 
 
Barrett asked how many villa products would there be and would they have a homeowner’s association 
(HOA)?  Plante responded that it had not be determined.  Nash also responded that this is something that 
would be reviewed at the time of the preliminary plat. 
 
Barrett also expressed concern with the access to Beebe Lake Road and if a turn lane would be constructed.  
Plante said that would be looked at during the preliminary plat development.  Nash said that the access 
point aligns with the access point to the Highlands and Vistas at Crow River development to the south. 
 
Barrett asked about a park or green space for the development.  Nash replied that the Comprehensive Plan 
does not require a park in this area.  Barrett stated that it would not require one as it is currently zoned 
commercial.  Nash explained that some cities strive for fewer parks with more amenities.  Barrett said that 
it is too dangerous to cross Beebe Lake Road to access parks and trails.  She also said that the Design Team 
visit spoke to more parks and green space.  Nash said that if a park search area is indicated for this property, 
the Park Dedication Study would also need updating. 
 
Ganfield asked if a park could be by the wetland area or if the 30-foot setback was still required.  Nash said 
a park could not impact the wetland. 
 
Schendel agreed that there is no park on that side of the City and it is dangerous to cross the county road. 
 
Nash stated that the Board could include a park search area for a small park in its motion regarding this 
property. 
 
Steve Voss, 885 Katydid Lane, expressed his concerns again for the drainage issue that exists from water 
coming onto his property from the west.  He is concerned that after ten (10) dry months, the rain from last 
week was only an inch and a half (1.5) and the water is in his backyard and in close proximity to his septic 
system.  He also wanted to ensure that coordination with St. Michael will take place for stormwater 
management.  Nash explained that his concerns will be addressed when the preliminary plat is brought 
before the Planning Commission. 
 
Nash reiterated that many of the questions tonight will be addressed at the time of the preliminary plat.  The 
concept plan before the Board tonight is intended to give feedback to the developer. 
 
Kolasa closed the Public Hearing and re-opened the Planning Commission meeting at 7:41 pm. 
 
Schendel stated he understands the concerns about the ponding and water issue along with the desire for a 
park.  He also said that there needs to be easements in place for access to the stormwater ponds when the 
preliminary plat is designed.  Nash said that the stormwater ponds have been placed in outlots with a strip 
of land to use as an access for most of the recent developments. 
 
Ganfield asked what the current side yard setback is for the City.  Nash responded that it is ten (10) feet, 
but that a 7.5 foot side yard setback has been approved in the past. 
 



Barrett asked if the desire for a park search area is decided, would it be included with the motion for the 
amendment to the Comprehensive Plan.  Kolasa indicated it should be placed on the preliminary plat.  Nash 
said the Board would put the park search area with the amendment motion. 
 
Nash explained that in previous developments, park dedication fees were paid in lieu of a physical park 
being part of the development. 
 
Ganfield asked why access to the development would be restricted to one area.  Nash explained that the 
county restricts access as it helps the flow on the road and there may be future planning that would be 
impacted by multiple access points.  She pointed out that the development would be phased with future 
access points to the west and north. 
 
Nash explained that Board member Chad Olson is absent this evening, but sent an email with his concerns 
and comments.  Overall, Olson’s concerns included the re-guiding of the property to residential from 
commercial and how it does not follow goals in the Comprehensive Plan; the surrounding neighborhoods 
tend to be larger lots, more rural residential in nature; only one access point; no park is included in the 
concept plan; and a lack of a wide variety of types and styles of housing.  Olson said he is not opposed to 
re-guiding it to residential, but more of the type of existing housing in neighboring properties. 
 
MOTION by Ganfield to recommend approval of the amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and to rezone 
the parcel to residential with the addition of a park search area, seconded by Barrett. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Barrett suggested that there be a dedicated villa area with an HOA. 
 
MOTION by Barrett to recommend approval of the concept plan for the Schirmer property, seconded by 
Schendel. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Unfinished Business 
 
 Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Rezoning from Multiple Family Residential to I-2 
Industrial for Property on the South Side of 5th Street NE (PIDs 108-500-363207 and 108-020-001031) 
 
Nash said the items before the Board were tabled from the April meeting as the Board wanted to see the 
Maxfield Study prior to making any decisions.  She said the study shows there is a difference in the amount 
of industrial land than there was for commercial land.  The study shows there is enough industrial properties 
to get to 2040, but nothing after that time.  The industrial properties are much tighter than the commercial 
properties. 
 
Nash explained that the applicant, Brian Lee, had provided a revised plan to include more trees as screening 
on the south side of the property, nearest to the River Town Villas. 
 
Kolasa asked for clarification between a car garage or condo and contractor garages.  Nash explained that 
once a property is rezoned, anything that is permitted in that zoning district is allowed. 
 
Kolasa asked what are the outdoor storage guidelines.  Nash replied that outdoor storage is permitted in the 
industrial zone I-2 if it was screened from neighbors, but does not say how much storage is allowed. 
 
Lee answered Kolasa that the contractor garage is what he is intending for the property, but that a car condo 
could be set up if the person leasing the space wanted it.  Lee emphasized that he would be the owner 
leasing the spaces to other people. 
 



Barrett expressed concern about the outdoor storage.  The added trees do provide more screening.  She 
stated she does not prefer the multi-family zoning for this parcel. 
 
Ganfield believes that the fit is good for this site while at the same time acknowledging the valid comments 
from the residents.  He thinks this project would allow for more trees and a lower building in height. 
 
Ganfield asked about the retaining wall.  He was told it would be between four (4) and ten (10 feet. 
 
Barrett asked about lighting and was told it would reflect down and not up into the neighboring properties. 
 
Nash reminded the Board that the amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and rezoning was all that is before 
the Board.  A site plan was not submitted with this application. 
 
An audience member expressed displeasure at not being able to ask questions and voice concerns.  Kolasa 
reminded the audience that the public hearing had taken place the month prior. 
 
Nash restated that if the property is re-guided to industrial, it can be used for anything that is permitted in 
that zoning district.  She pointed out the list of potential uses from the ordinances.  She reiterated to the 
audience that a site plan is not under discussion and that information to some of their questions is not 
available since there is not a site plan.  Lee provided a concept plan of what he would like to do, but it is 
not a site plan. 
 
MOTION by Barrett to recommend approval of the Comprehensive Plan Amendment and rezoning of the 
parcels to industrial, seconded by Schendel. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Reports and Announcements 
 Nash reminded the Board and audience that the items from tonight’s agenda will be before the City 
Council at the Tuesday, May 7th meeting at 7 pm. 

Biren reminded the Board of the Hanover Lions Smelt Fry and Pork Chop Dinner on Saturday from 
11:30 am to 5 pm at City Hall. 
 Kolasa asked Biren about Clean Up Day.  Clean Up Day is Saturday, May 11th from 8 am to Noon 
at Public Works. 
 Schendel asked for confirmation that the May Planning Commission meeting had been moved to 
Wednesday, May 29th.  Biren confirmed. 
 Amery reported Council had approved hiring a third public works person along with two seasonal 
positions.  The finance position will be posted to fill the vacant accountant position.  Council authorized 
bids for the CSAH 19 project. 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Schendel to adjourn, seconded by Barrett.   
Motion carried unanimously.  
Meeting adjourned at 8:17 pm. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
Amy L. Biren 
Administrative Assistant 


